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TRAVELERS' WORKS AS AN IMPORTANT SOURCE
IN STUDYING ARCHAEOLOGY

IN LIGHT OF THE “HADIJI ‘ALI MOSQUE” OF ATHENS

Ahmed AMEEN!

ABSTRACT!:

Travelers” works provide us with very wealthy data including maps, engravings, drawings, inscriptions,
accounts, stories etc. These data answer many questions when studying historical buildings; esp. for those
which destroyed completely or partially. In this context this paper aims to identify the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque
(the so-called Kii¢iik Cami). It is located in the south-eastern part of the Roman Agora of the old City of
Athens. This monument is almost completely absent in any historical-archaeological map of Athens and in
the published studies of the Ottoman monuments of Athens as well. Moreover the surviving monuments of
Ottoman architecture are in general little known and hardly studied. So this article also aims to clarify, as
far as possible, the history and architecture of an Athenian mosque, the Hadji ‘Ali, through the surviving
traces of the building and with the help of the data provided by many accounts of travelers to Athens.

INTRODUCTION:

Travelers’ works include texts and images handed; represent one of the most
important resources for many sciences in general and for historical and archaeological
studies in particular. Travelers here include others —who did the same process and
documented their seeing and impressions through their journeys— as pilgrims, merchants,
geographers, sailors, diplomats, and military campaign’s members ...

Travelers’ accounts of the cities and their buildings, matter of concern, evolved from
mere citing their admiration or simple description in general in 11th — 16th centuries to
detailed accounts including analysis and comparative studies esp. from the 17th century
onwards. The latter has also the images handed which include graphic representations of
space and buildings as topographical maps, panoramic views of cities and cartographic
depictions of different subjects; which represent a precious source in archaeological and
history of art studies.

As a case study, Travelers’ works are very helpful in studying the ottoman
monuments of Athens. There kept engravings for the monuments which disappeared like

i Faculty of Arcaheology, Fayoum University (Egypt)
" This article is based on an article entitled: “The Kiiciik Cami of Athens: Some considerations in the light
of the Travelers’ works”, that submitted previously to the journal of Turcica (vol. 47).

-6- I Travelers' Works As An Important Source In Studying Archaeology



Ahmed AMEEN SHEDET (2)

the Kifissia' Mosque (Before 1667) by Hansen in 1835 and Stilling in 1853, the
Parthenon® Mosque (after 1687) and the Yeni® Mosque (1668-1670) by Dupré in 1809
(fig. 4). Also depicted those destructed somewhat like the Mehmed Fakhri Medrese’
(1720-21) by Du Moncel in 1843.

Moreover, travelers’ works sometimes provide us with detailed accounts of some
monuments as Evliyd Celebi’s description of the Acropolis' Mosque®, and sometimes
kept those inscriptions as Evliya did when mentioned the Hiiseyin Efendi tekke® among
the ottoman monuments of Athens.

In this context, this paper aims to identify the so called Kiiciik Cami in Athens and to
clarify its historical background and its architectural features as well.

CONTEXT:

The Kiigiik Cami is located near the archaeological site of the Roman Agora in the
centre of the old city of Athens (fig. 1-2). The mosque acquired its current name of Kiigiik
Cami (Small Mosque) during the last years of the Ottoman Athens or just after the
liberation of Athens in 1821, because of its small dimensions in comparison to the other
two preserved mosques nearby.

The first reference to a mosque named Small Mosque (Gr. Mwkp6 Tlapui) appears in a
document roughly dating from 1824.” In this document, preserved in the Archive of the
Philomousos Society of Athens (no. 8804), it is mentioned that the Small Mosque near
the Roman Agora, among other Ottoman buildings and sites, should be reused according
to the Greek governmental new needs.® So, according to this document, it was suggested
that the Small Mosque -and the nearby samam (hot bath)- should be reused as a printing
establishment (fig. 1-2).

About forty years later, however, Mommsen mentioned that the Small Mosque was
almost destroyed.” According to Kambouroglou the mosque still existed to a degree until
1920*. In 1929 the art historian Xyngopoulos mentioned the Small Mosque among the
ruined Ottoman monuments of Athens (fig. 1)."° In 1954 the Turkish scholar Eyice wrote
that no remains of the so-called Small Mosque existed anymore."

So, the Small Mosque -as well as other Ottoman monuments including the nearby
hamam and tekke (dervish convent) - disappeared completely between 1920 and 1929. In
2003-2004, the name of the Kiiciik Cami appeared again in the context of the works of
reorganizing the layout of the Mousaiou Square which were carried out by the First
Ephoreia of Prehistoric and Classic Antiquities of Athens.'” These works aimed to
preserve the rediscovered foundations of the Small Mosque and make them visible."”
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As for the contemporary identification of the Kii¢iik Cami with a mosque of the
gypsies of Ottoman Athens'!, we could find no historical source to support this
hypothesis.

THE TRAVELERS' WORKS IDENTIFYING THE KUCUK CAMLI:

The founder's name, the date of construction, and the original form of the Kiigiik
Cami are still questionable. By reading the travelers' works (texts and photos) this paper
will try to answer some of these queries concerning the ruined mosque.

Let’s start with the Seyahatname of Evliya Celebi who visited Athens in the summer
of 1068 (1668)."° After his exceptionally detailed description of the Acropolis' Mosque
(fig. 3), he noted:

“... Within the space between the two gates —of the castle— there are
big guns, and a small mosque, in which the soldiers who protect
these gates say their prayers. At a distance of a hundred steps
below the gate there is the great dervish convent (Asitdne) of
Hiiseyin Efendi, a follower of the Way of the Halvetiye Order.
Above the gate (of the tekke) its date is recorded [by this
chronogram]: “In this manner (the poet) Mahdumi said its date
may this generous man (Hiiseyin Efendi) be accepted by God.
10237 the year 1024 = 1615.

[The numerical value of the chronogram gives the Hidjra date of 1028

= 1619 A.D.]

“On the northern and north-eastern side of the castle there is a
beautiful city, which gives the impression of the garden of paradise,
Athens the city of Irem' [i.e. the city of the incomparable
buildings]. There are three Muslim neighbourhoods (mahalle). In
addition to the aforementioned mosque of the castle, there are only
three other Friday-mosques, and furthermore four shrines. In the
first place'” is-concerning the mosques-/ L8 Bey Mosque, which is
a light-filled mosque, built of stone, covered with domes, well-built
and good-looking, then Hadji ‘Ali Mosque, and the Eski (Old)
Mosque. The three mosques are built of stone, covered with domes
and covered with ceramic tile roofs. There is no building in Athens
that is covered with lead.”"

“There are also seven small-mosques (mesdjid) in the
neighbourhoods, and one medrese (high school) for the learned,
three primary schools (mektep) for children, two tekkes for
dervishes and three baths (hamam): first of all’® the bath of ... Bey,
then the bath of Hadji Ali and the Abid Efendi Bath. They are baths
with a pleasant air.”
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Biris®!, along with Travlos®, concluded in the light of the above quoted Evliya's text,
that the Kiiciik Cami corresponds to the Bey Mosque.”” They thought that Evliya
mentioned the mosques in the order he saw them, according to his movement after he
came down from the castle. However, it is noticed that the description of the three Friday
mosques by Evliya is cut off from the itinerary of the other monuments of Athens, which
ended at the Tekke of Hiiseyin Efendi. The description of the mosques, as well as the
description of the houses, came into the context of a brief commentary on the
architectural sights of Athens. The text of Evliya itself proves this view clearly, since he
mentioned the Eski (old) Mosque as the last Friday mosque—the Old Mosque being the
nearest one to the Kiiciik Cami (fig. 1). We may thus conclude that Evliya followed no
definite rule concerning the order he used to mention the mosques.

Furthermore, the Bey Mosque was definitely described by Evliya as a “light-filled
mosque, built of stone, and covered with domes, a solid and prosperous building”,** such
an image it is difficult to match with the Kiiciik Cami, because of the small dimensions of
the latter. Moreover, if the Kiigiik Cami was a “luminous mosque, covered with domes” as
Evliya described the Bey Mosque, it would not have escaped the interest of the other

travelers who visited Athens.

So if the Kiiciik Cami was one of the mosques mentioned by Evliya, it must
correspond to the Hadji 'Ali Mosque, since it is the only one which remained unidentified
among the three Friday mosques of the city of Athens mentioned by Evliya.

On the other hand, the only mosque that corresponds to the Bey Mosque, as the third
mosque of the city of Athens according to Evliya's description, is the so-called Mosque of
the Column® which was located in Hadrian Street (fig. 1 [4)]).

Evliya noted that there was a bath, among the three Baths of Athens, of the same
founder Hadji ‘Ali. Biris,® and Travlos,”” suggested that the Bath which once stood
within the Roman Agora28 (fig. 1 [D]) should be Hadji ‘Ali’s bath. This bath is mentioned
by Mommsen and was destroyed in 1890.* An Ottoman map from the Prime Minister’s
Ottoman Archive in Istanbul, dated 1826-27 (fig. 2),** depicts a bath situated southwest
of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque (Kii¢iik Cami) towards the castle (fig. 2); this evidence suggests
that the hamam in question is in fact the Bath of Hadji ‘Ali mentioned by Evliya
(fig.1 [D]). The other two baths noted by Evliya are identified; one was the Bath of the
Bey near the mosque of the same founder (Mosque of the Column) (fig. 1 [B]), wilsth the
second one is still surviving today and bearing the same name mentioned by Evliya: Abid
Efendi Hamam. So the Bath of the Roman Agora suggests that there was a fourth
Ottoman bath in Athens, which may have been erected after the visit of Evliya. It is
therefore not surprising that Wheler noted that Athens had “three or four public

bathes” !
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Few years after Evliyd Celebi’ visit (1668), the European travelers included the
Kiigiik Cami in their engravings and plans. The 1670 map of Athens which was drawn by
the French Capuchin and reproduced by Guillet (1675)32 includes a mosque under the
number 32, located almost in the site of the Kii¢iik Cami with the indication “Temple de
Venus Uranie, Mosquée . Wheler examined the site of the mosque searching for any
traces of the ancient Temple of Venus Uranie and concluded that there was no relation
between the mosque and the mentioned temple;

“We could by no means tell, why the French author of Old and New
Athens, should dream, that this was the Temple of Vulcan: For we
found nothing ancient to show it, nor any Tradition to confirm it,
more than the Product of his Fancy: no more could we at the
Mosque, some distance East from it, see any reason to make us call
it The Temple of Venus Urania; although such a Temple might
probably have been at the End of the Town...”**

In 1675-76, Spon and Wheler visited Athens. They noted that Athens had five
mosques: four in the city and the fifth in the Acropolis castle. Hence there was a new
mosque —a fourth mosque of the lower city of Athens- constructed between the journey of
Evliya Celebi and the voyage of Spon to Athens i.e., the years 1668-1675. This fourth
mosque was according to Spon the New Mosque of Beynas (Mosquée neuve de Beynas),
which is included in Spon's map®® of Athens (fig. 5), under the number 16. There are no
traces of this New Mosque anymore, but it was fairly correctly drawn by Dupré in 1809
(fig. 4) and is known in the Greek literature as the Yeni Mosque or Mosque of Rodakiou
(New Mosque, fig. 1 [5]).”’

The map of Spon was reproduced and sometimes imitated by other travelers like
Wheler (1682),* and Coronelli’® (1686-87).

The four mosques of the city of Athens are clearly presented in the 1687 engravings
of the engineer captain Verneda which were published by Fanelli® (fig. 7), Laborde®
(fig. 8) and Omont™* (figs. 6, 9). These engravings show four Ottoman mosques in Athens
which during the brief interval of the Venetian domination by Morosini (1687-1688)
were used as Roman Catholic churches or as stores. Three maps of Verneda render the
mosques in a three-dimensional symbolic form (figs. 7-9), one of them shows the
Acropolis and the four mosques of the city of Athens with the important sights around
them (fig. 7). Verneda wrote that the two buildings (fig. 7 “N”) in this drawing were
turkish mosques, and that the other two buildings were mosques but were used for other
function; one served as a store (fig. 7 “U”) and the second as a Protestant temple (fig. 7
“Y*).* The Kiiciik Cami can be distinguished quite easily in this engraving (fig. 7 “N”
towards the Acropolis).
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The other two maps of Verneda offer two perspective plans of Athens showing the
mosques within their neighborhoods (figs. 8-9). The Kiigiik Cami was identified
according to these maps as a mosque with the notice that it functioned at that time as a

store. The last plan is a simple one (fig. 6) and identified the Kii¢iik Cami as a store as
well. *

To summarize, the Kiiciik Cami was erected before 1668 when Evliya Celebi visited
Athens. The building corresponds only to the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque which he mentioned as
one among the three Friday-mosques of the Lower City.

THE PLAN OF THE HADJI ‘ALI (figs. 10-11)

The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque owes its present aspect to the 2003-2004 restoration works of
the remains of its foundations (figs. 10-15), as mentioned above.

In the present day one can see the foundations of the layout of the mosque's walls;
their height varies from 0.10 to 0.90 m; the plan shows the gibla wall with the semi-
circular recess of the mihrab in its middle; furthermore the windows flanking the mihrab
(dimensions: 1.05 meter wide, roughly 0.75 meter deep) raise above the level of the
mosque's floor at a height of 0.77 meter. In the western comer of the prayer hall, as is
usual in the Ottoman mosques, survive the foundations of the base of the minaret with the
first two steps of'its staircase (figs. 10, 15).

In the light of these remains, the Small Mosque is a rather simple one; it consists in an
almost square prayer hall measuring 8.59 by 8.68 meters, including the walls. The
internal area measures roughly 50 m?, and the thickness of its walls is roughly 0.70 meter
except the gibla wall which is 0.78 meter thick, while the part which corresponds to the
mihrab protrusion is about 1 meter thick.

Parts of the mosque's floor, towards the gibla wall, were restored in the context of the
2004 restoration works. It was paved with irregular stone tiles with a height of almost
0.15 meter, set on a strong and thick layer of mortar with a height of almost 0.13 meter.

There are no architectural traces as far as it concerns the type of roof of the mosque
evidences of the type of roofing. While the nearly square plan along with the rather small
dimensions of the mosque refers to a domed-square prayer hall-a typical style of the
Ottoman religious architecture of Greece in general and mosques in particular—, the 1826-
27 Ottoman map of Athens, mentioned above, suggests a hipped (pyramidal) roof (fig. 2)
for the mosque, like the houses of Athens. The engraving map of the engineer captain
Verneda (1687) also shows a hipped roof on the Mosque (fig. 8).
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About the three mosques of the (lower) city of Athens Evliya noted: “These three are
built of stone, with domes and covered with ceramic roof tiles. In this town are no lead-
covered buildings at all.” If this description is correct it may explain why that hipped roof
was covering a kind of an inset wooden dome like those often used in smaller mosques in
Bosnia. Or the old mosque was initially covered with a dome, which later (after an
earthquake?) was replaced by a pyramidal roof as was often done in similar situations.

The above mentioned Ottoman map of Athens (1826-27) shows the plan of the Hadji
‘Ali Mosque including the minaret; it includes the minaret, but the portico in front of the
prayer hall, which is a common feature of Ottoman mosques, is missing. The credibility
of this map is supported by the fact that no remains of a portico have survived.

In this context the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of Athens represents an important paradigm of
the Ottoman mosques not only in Athens but in the whole Greece, as a rare case of a
Friday-mosque without a portico in front of the prayer hall. This is unique in Athens as
well as for the few examples of Greek mosques covered with a hipped roof.

THE MINARET:

The minaret of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque (Kii¢iik Cami) was a semi-independent one. It
was engaged in the western wall of the prayer-hall, where the minaret's door was. Traces
of its spiral stone staircase around a column of marble have survived.

While there are no faithful engravings of the old aspect of the Mosque, providentially
its minaret has been drawn in many engravings. In a copper engraving dated 1674, in the
plans of Wheler® (1682) and in the perspective plans of Athens drawn by the engineer
Verneda in 1687 (figs. 6-9) there are representations of the minaret.

Two important colored engravings (gravures) obviously represent the minaret of the
Hadji ‘Ali Mosque. The first one is the portrait of an Athenian lady by Dupré in 1809.%
In the architectural background, considering that the building behind the lady represents
the Gate of the Roman Agora, the upper section of the minaret shown on the right must
represent the minaret of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque (fig. 16).

The second engraving, by Hobhouse-(1809-10), is an exceptional one depicting the
city of Athens taken from the foot of the Lykavittos (Lycabettus) hill.*’ The six minarets
of the mosques existing in Athens at that time (1809-10) are shown (fig. 17, with the
same numbers as in fig. 1); the minaret of the Hadji ‘A/i Mosque is number three.

According to these engravings, the minaret of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque was a typical
Ottoman minaret; it has a cylindrical shaft with one balcony (serefe) supported by
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stalactite corbels, and topped with a conical (pencil point) hood covered with lead sheets
bearing a crescent on its top (figs. 16-17).

CONCLUSION:

This paper dealt with the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque (Kii¢iik Cami) of Athens historically and
architecturally as well, basically through examining the texts and the engravings of the
travelers, and concluded that:

The so-called Kiiciik Cami was erected before 1668, when Evliya Celebi visited
Athens. It corresponds only to the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque, which is mentioned by Evliya
as one of the three Friday-mosques of the Lower City of Athens, and not to the Bey
Mosque -also mentioned by Evliya in 1668- suggested by previous studies.

The bath of Hadji ‘Ali, was 1 south-west of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque and is not the
one which was located within the Roman agora of Athens as suggested by previous
studies. Identifying the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque as the gypsies’ mosque of Ottoman
Athens, is incorrect.

The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of Athens was preserved completely until 1824, and
partially until 1920. It disappeared between 1920 and 1929. In the years 2003-04 its
foundations reappeared again during the works of restoration of the neighborhood of
the mosque.

- The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque was a square prayer hall, with common dimensions,
covered with a hipped (pyramidal) roof, a rare type of the Ottoman mosques of
Athens, and one of few examples in Greece .

The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque might not have had a portico in front of the prayer hall, a
rare feature in Ottoman mosques architecture.

The minaret of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque was a typical Ottoman one with a
cylindrical shaft with one balcony supported by stalactite corbels, and topped with a
conical hood covered with lead sheets bearing a crescent on its top.

We should emphasize that the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque needs more works of cleaning
of ungainly graffiti and writings that distort the monument, and has to find a place for
it on the historical-archaeological map of Athens as a valuable trace of a lost past.
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Fig. (1) Map of Athens of 1821 shows the ottoman mosques and some sights of Athens (Above),
Detail of the map (Down), by A. Ameen (After Mommsen, Athenae Christianae)
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Fig. (2) Map of Athens of 1826-27, shows the ottoman mosques and some sights of Athens
(Above Right),Details of the map's scale and data (Above Left) ; Detail of the castle and the
center of the city (Down), A copy of a map from Prime Ministry Ottoman Archive in Istanbul.
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Fig. (3) Celebi, Seyahatmame, Book 8, 253, left sheet (Left) and detail of the selected text (Right).
Photo by A. Ameen

Fig. (5) Map of Athens in 1675-1676, (Spon, Voyage d'Italie)

Fig. (4) A mosque, (Dupré, Voyage a
Athenes, pl. XXIX)

Fig. (6) Map of Athens (detail), Fig. (7) ap of Athens showing the four

by the engineer captain Verneda in 1687 Mosques of the city of Athens, by the engineer
(Omont, Athenes, 17, pl. XLV) captain Verneda in 1687, (Fanelli, Atene Attica,317)
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Fig. (8) Map of Athens (a detail, with the entire fnap), by the engineer captain
Verneda in 1687 (Laborde, Athénes, vol. I1 172-173)

A ' . = = e
ap of Athens (a detail, with the entire map), by the engineer captain
Verneda in 1687 (Omont, Athenes, 17, pl. XXXV)

ig. (9)
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Fig. (11) Plan of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of Athens, A
Fig. (10) Plan of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of presumptive reconstruction with the addition of the
Athens, the present state (A. Ameen) prayer hall with the hipped roof, windows of the non
qibla walls (A. Ameen)

: |

e [ —

2
-

Fig. (12) The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of Athens, a
general view (A. Ameen)

Fig‘.‘(nl‘?;) The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of Athens, from the
entrance towards the mihrab
(A. Ameen)

,from Fig. (15) The Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of Athens, from the
the western corner where the base of the minaret eastern corner where the qibla wall
(A. Ameen) (A. Ameen)

-18 - I Travelers' Works As An Important Source In Studying Archaeology



Ahmed AMEEN SHEDET (2)

Fig. (16)

A portray of an Athenian lady
(1809) showing the minaret of
the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque of
Athens (Right), with detail
(Left),

(Dupré, Voyage a Atheénes, pl.
XXVI)

Fig. (17) A view of the city of Athens (1809-1810) the entire view (Above Right),
and a detail showing the minarets of the ottoman mosques
(the numbers are the same of the fig. 1)
Hobhouse, 4 journey through Albania, pl. after page 292.
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Ottoman Architecture in Greece, E. Brouskari ed., E. Fowden tr., Athens, Hellenic Ministry of Culture-
Directorate of Byzantine and Post-Byzantine Antiquities, 2008, p. 70-82.

1 Eyice (Semavi), “Yunanistan'da Tiirk Mimari Eserleri”, Tiirkiyat Mecmuasi X1, 1954, p. 157-182, 163 ;
Eyice (Semavi), “Atina’da Tiirk Mimari Eserleri,” in: Tiirkive Diyanet Vakfi Islim Ansiklopedisi, TV,
Istanbul, 1991, p. 76-79. Later Turkish scholars do not mention the mosque anymore, see: Ayverdi (Ekrem
Hakki), Avrupa'da Osmanli Mimari Eserleri 1V: Bulgaristan, Yunanistan, Arnavutluk, Istanbul, Istanbul
Fetih Cemiyeti, 1982, p. 200 ; Arafat (Karim W.), “Ottoman Athens”, Arts and the Islamic World 4, 1987-
88, p. 2125 ; Bicake1 (Ismail), Yunanistan'da Tiirk mimari eserleri, éns6z: Ekmeleddin Thsanoglu,
Istanbul, IRCICA, 2003. p. 28.

12 For the current state of the Hadji ‘Ali Mosque (Kiigiik Cami) dues to these works see: Kvi@dxng (T'.),
Tryywayka (1), “2003-2004 Alreg epyooies Sapdpemong-anokatdotoons’, Apyailoyikov Adedtiov, Topog
56-59, 2001-2004, Xpovikd B'l Attikr), Abnva, Yrovpyeio TToAtiopod kat Tovpiopov, 2010, p. 190, pl.
82.T.

B RviBaxne, Tryywayka, “2003-2004 Alkeg epyasiss”, p. 190.

' http://theotheracropolis.com/2008/03/26/venus-cami-ii/, [Access date, 15 Oct. 2014].

'3 Evliya # 1, folio 253b.
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1S About Irem, see: Watt (W. Montgomery), “IRAM”, in Encyclopedia of Islam, Vol. 1ll, Leiden, Brill,
New ed. 1986, p. 1270.

'7 Here the word (¥f) in Evliya's autograph means firstly and is not a family name as translated in Greek
literature as Ola or Olou. In the autograph the word “firstly” (¥ /) is followed by a blank then by “. . . Bey
Mosque,” since Evliya did not remember the name anymore and hoped to fill it in later. He did this often.
In the case of the baths the autograph shows the same lacunas; the word “Bey bath” is preceded with the
same word “firstly” (¥l), which is translated too as a name in Greek literature. So I will refer to this
mosque along with this bath as the Bey Mosque and the Bey Bath as opposed to the wrong translations
“Ulou Bey Mosque” and “Ulou Bey Bath” which we find in Greek literature. I am greatly thankful to Prof.
Machiel Kiel for his corrections of my translation of Evliya's text and for providing me with the related text
of the latest publication of Evliya Celebi work, published in 2003 and mentioned here as [Evliya # 3], See:
Evliya # 1,253 ; Evliya # 2: Evliya Celebi, Seyahatndmesi, Istanbul, Orhaniye Matbaasi, 1928, vol. 8, 259
; Evliya # 3: Evliya Celebi (bin Dervis Mehemmed Zilli): Eviiyd Celebi Seyahatnamesi VIII. Kitap,
[Topkap1 Saray: Kiitiphanesi Bagdat 308 Numarali Yazmanin Transkripsiyonu — Dizini], Edited by Seyit
Ali Kahraman, Yiicel Dagli, Robert Dankoff, Istanbul, Yap1 Kredi Yaymlari, 2003, p. 117 ; Mzipn (Kdota
H), Ta Aruka wov Epric Toekeunn: a1 AGnvor kat ta mepiywpd v kata tov 170v ar., ABvat, x.0, 1959,
p. 43444, footnote 63 ; Tpaviod (Imdvvng N.), IToAcodopn e&élilic twv AOnvav: amé twv mpoicropikwv
XPOVOY uéypt v apyav v 1900 aidvog, 3n €kdoon, Anva, Karoév, 2005, p. 184.

' A void (empty space) in the autograph.

' Here is the first translation of this part of Evliyd's work in English. See : Evliya # 1,p. 253b ; in the 1928"
printed edition of Seyahatmdme the phrase “and the Eski Mosque”, in the 4™ line from below, is missing,
see Evliya # 2, p.259. The Greek translations followed the last text of 1928, see: Mnipn, Ta Artid tov
Eplia Toeleumy, p. 44 ; Toehepni (EPMA), Talior omyv Ellada, Epevva- Aoyoteyvikn anddoon: Nikog
Xethadaxng, Adnva, Exd, 1991, p. 179.

2 See footnote no. 17.

2 Maipn, Ta Arricd tov Epid Toekeur), p. 43-44, footnote no. 63.

z Tpavrov, I1oleodouikn eCérilic twv AOnvav, p. 184.

2 It is mentioned in Greek literature as Ulou (or Ola) Bey Mosque, see footnote no. 12.

* Travlos wrongly attributed this description to the Fethiye Mosque, which at that time was not erected yet.
See: TpawAo¥, IToAsodouy e&éliéic twv AOnvav, p. 184.

» It was destroyed in the second half of the 19™ century, about this mosque see: Mommsen, Athenae
Christianae, p. 73-74, no. 77 ; Kopmnovpoyrov, At Ioloiai AGpvai, p. 384 ; Kapnobpoyhov, lotopia twv
AOnvaiwv: Tovproxpatia, vol. 111, p. 124 ; Evyyomovrog, “Ta Bulavtiva kot Tovpkikd pvnpeia”, p. 121.

2 Maipn, Ta Arricd tov Epid Toekeum), p. 43-44, footnote no. 63.

2 Tpowho, Ioleodopuxn eCéhilic twv AGnvav, p. 184.

2 Mommsen, Athenae Christianae, p- 83,10 95 ; TpowhoV, [Toleodopiky eéelilic twv AOnvarv, p. 184.

¥ JIAE (Ipoktiké g ev ABfvaic Apyaoroyikiic Etonpeioc tov Etovg 1890), AOHNHEIN, ek tov
TUTOYPaPEOL TOV Adehomv [Téppn, 1893,12 ; Tpawrov, [ToAeodouixy eCériéic twv AOnvav, p. 184.

3% A photograph was taken by the author from a digital reproduction in the original size of a map from the
Prime Ministry Ottoman Archive in Istanbul, displayed in the exhibition entitled Ottoman Athens, 1458-
1833, February 10-June 30, 2015, presented by The Gennadius Library of the American School of Classical
Studies at Athens.

3! Wheler (George, Sir), 4 journey into Greece, London, W. Cademan, 1682, p. 352.

32 Laborde (Alexandre, comte de), Athénes aux XV, XVI° et XVII siécles, 2 vols, Paris, J. Renouard et Cie,
1854, vol. 11, 78, p. 128-129.

** Omont (Henri Auguste), Athénes au XVII siécle : dessins des sculptures du Parthénon, attribués a J.
Carrey, et conservés a la Bibliotheque nationale, accompagnés de vues et plans d'Athénes et de I'Acropole,
Paris, E. Leroux, 1898, 14, pls. XXXIX, XL.

* Wheler, 4 journey into Greece, p. 351.

35 Spon (Jacob), Voyage d'Italie, de Dalmatie, de Gréce, et du Levant : fait aux années 1675 et 1676, Lyon,
Antoine Cellier, 1678, 3 vols, vol. II, map at the end of the volume.

3% Dupré, Voyage d Athénes, pl. XXIX. This drawing was wrongly identified by Kapmovopoyiov as the
Fethiye Mosque, see: Kapnodpoyiov, “H EN AOHNAIX TOYPKOKPATIA”, p. 105-122, 117.

37 Kapmovpoyhov, A1 Ialaiai AGvar, p. 384.
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** Wheler, 4 journey into Greece, p. 338, 340.

¥ Coronelli (Vincenzo), An historical and geographical account of the Morea, Negropont, and the
maritime places, as far as Thessalonica, Englished by R. W. Gent, London, Printed for Matth. Gillyflower
and W. Canning, 1687, plan of Athens, p. 196.

0 Fanelli (Francesco), Atene Attica: Descritta da suoi Principii Fino all'Acquisto Fatto dell’ Armi Veneti
nel 1687, Venice, Antonio Bortoli, 1707, p. 317.

* Laborde, Athénes, vol. II, p. 172-173.

*> Omont, Athénes, pl. XLV.

* Laborde, Athénes, vol. 11, 183.

* Omont, Athénes, p. 12, 18.

* Wheler, 4 journey into Greece, p. 338, 340.

* Dupré, Voyage d Athénes, pl. XXVI.

*7 Hobhouse describes the site from which this drawing was done as follows: “The view was taken from the
foot of a craggy hill, once called Anchesmus... NE from the Acropolis ‘and he said praising this drawing:’
which is exceedingly correct in every particular”, see: Hobhouse (Broughton, John Cam, Baron), 4 journey
through Albania, and other provinces of Turkey in Europe and Asia, to Constantinople, during the years
1809-1810, London, printed for J. Cawthorn, 1813, p. 292.
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